Targeted Therapies for Lung Cancer

Thomas E. Stinchcombe

Abstract

Targeted therapies have become standard therapies for patients with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). A phase III trial of carboplatin and paclitaxel with and without bevacizumab in patients with advanced NSCLC with non-squamous histology demonstrated a statistically significant improvement in efficacy. In patients with NSCLC with an activating epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutation (defined as exon 19 deletion and exon 21 L858R point mutation), phase III trials of EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI) compared to platinum-based chemotherapy have demonstrated superior efficacy in the first-line setting. In patients with NSCLC with anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) rearrangements, phase III trials of crizotinib have demonstrated superior efficacy compared to platinum-pemetrexed in the first-line setting and standard chemotherapy in the second-line setting. A second-generation ALK inhibitor, ceritinib, is available for patients who have progressed after or were intolerant of crizotinib. Crizotinib has also demonstrated activity on patients with ROS1 rearrangements, and BRAF inhibitors (dabrafenib, vemurafenib) have demonstrated activity in patients with NSCLC with BRAF V600E mutation. The oncogenic mutations that are susceptible to targeted therapy are mainly found in non-squamous NSCLC. The development of targeted therapy in patients with squamous NSCLC has been more challenging due to the genomic complexity observed in the squamous histology and the low prevalence of EGFR, ALK, and ROS1 molecular alterations. A phase III trial of cisplatin and gemcitabine with and without necitumumab in patients with advanced NSCLC with squamous histology significant improvement demonstrated а statistically in progression-free and overall survival.

T.E. Stinchcombe (\boxtimes)

University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, 170 Manning Drive, Physician's Office Building, 3rd Floor, Chapel Hill, NC 27599-7305, USA e-mail: Thomas_stinchcombe@med.unc.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

K.L. Reckamp (ed.), *Lung Cancer*, Cancer Treatment and Research 170, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-40389-2_8

Keywords

Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutation \cdot Anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) rearrangement \cdot Angiogenesis \cdot ROS1 rearrangement \cdot BRAF mutations

Contents

1	Introduction	166
2	Anti-angiogenesis Agents	166
3	Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor (EGFR) Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors in EGFR Mutant NSCLC	168
4	EGFR Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors in Second- or Third-Line Setting	170
5	Adjuvant Epidermal Growth Factor Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors	171
6	Anaplastic Lymphoma Kinase Inhibitors	172
7	BRAF Inhibitors	174
8	Squamous NSCLC	175
9	Small Cell Lung Cancer	176
10	Conclusions	176
Refe	erences	176

1 Introduction

Lung cancer remains a leading cause of cancer-related mortality in the United States and globally [1-3]. The majority of patients have the non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) subtype and present with advanced stage disease at the time of diagnosis [4]. In patients with advanced NSCLC, defined as stage IIIB or IV disease, platinum-based chemotherapy was the mainstay of systemic therapy for several decades. However, clinical trials of various combinations of platinum doublets revealed a therapeutic plateau had been reached [5, 6]. Consequently, the focus of drug development became agents that targeted a critical cell signaling pathway or a specific oncogenic process. Several targeted agents have become standard of care in the treatment of NSCLC, and others are currently in development. The identification and development of predictive biomarkers for targeted therapies have accelerated the pace of drug development and significantly improved the clinical care of patients with advanced NSCLC. The currently available targeted therapies are most frequently used in patients with NSCLC with non-squamous histology. The development of targeted therapies for small cell lung cancer (SCLC) and NSCLC with squamous histology has been more challenging.

2 Anti-angiogenesis Agents

The ability to develop new blood vessels is one the hallmarks of cancer and new blood vessels provide oxygen and nutrients to sustain tumor growth and can provide a conduit for development of new metastatic lesions [7]. Disrupting the process of angiogenesis was a focus of extensive research. The first anti-angiogenesis agent available for advanced NSCLC was bevacizumab, a monoclonal antibody that target vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) A, which is a ligand that binds to VEGF receptors. A randomized phase II trial investigated carboplatin and paclitaxel alone and with bevacizumab at 7.5 mg/kg every three weeks or 15 mg/kg every three weeks in advanced NSCLC (all histologies) [8]. This trial established the bevacizumab dose of 15 mg/kg every three weeks as the preferred dose for further investigation in combination with carboplatin and paclitaxel. A prohibitive rate of pulmonary hemorrhage was observed in patients with squamous histology treated with bevacizumab, and patients with squamous histology were excluded from subsequent trials. The phase III trial compared carboplatin and paclitaxel with and without bevacizumab in patients with advanced NSCLC with non-squamous histology. Patients with hemoptysis, uncontrolled hypertension, clinically significant cardiovascular disease, and on therapeutic anticoagulation were excluded. This trial revealed a statistically superior objective response rate (ORR), progression-free survival (PFS), and overall survival (OS) with the addition of bevacizumab (Table 1) [9]. A three arm phase III trial investigated cisplatin and gencitabine with placebo, bevacizumab 7.5 mg/kg every three weeks, or 15 mg/kg every three weeks in patients with advanced NSCLC with non-squamous histology (Table 1) [10, 11]. The primary end-point was PFS, and the trial was not designed to compare the efficacy of the two bevacizumab arms. Patients assigned to bevacizumab 7.5 mg/kg or 15 mg/kg every three weeks arms compared to the placebo arm had a statistically superior ORR and PFS; a statistically significant difference in the secondary end-point of OS was not observed between the individual bevacizumab arms compared to placebo. The unique grade 3 or 4 bevacizumab-related toxicities observed in these trials were hypertension, proteinuria, and hemorrhage (pulmonary or gastrointestinal). Bevacizumab in combination with platinum-based therapy was the first targeted therapy, demonstrating an improvement in outcome compared to platinum-based chemotherapy alone. However, concerns about toxicities, treatment restrictions related to the comorbidities, and the lack of a predictive biomarker have limited the future development of the agent.

Ramucirumab is a monoclonal antibody against the extracellular domain of VEGF receptor 2, and a phase III trial investigated docetaxel with placebo or ramucirumab in patients who had experienced disease progression after platinum-based therapy [12]. There were no eligibility restrictions related to histology, and approximately 25 % of the patients enrolled had squamous NSCLC. A statistically significant higher ORR, longer PFS, and longer OS were observed in patients assigned to the ramucirumab compared to the placebo arm (Table 1).

Comparison (# of patients)	Line of therapy	Objective response rate	Median progression-free survival	Median overall survival
Carboplatin and paclitaxel \pm bevacizumab [9] (n = 838)	First-line	35 % versus 15 % p < 0.001	6.2 versus 4.5 months HR = 0.66 , p < 0.001	12.3 versus 10.3 months HR = 0.79, p = 0.003
Cisplatin/gemcitabine with placebo [10, 11] bevacizumab 7.5 mg/kg bevacizumab 15 mg/kg $(n = 1043)^{a}$	First-line	20.1 % 34.1 % ($p < 0.0001$) 30.4 % ($p = 0.0023$)	6.1 months 6.7 months, HR = 0.75 , p = 0.003 6.5 months, HR = 0.82 , p = 0.03	13.1 months 13.6 months, HR = 0.93 , p = 0.420 13.4 months, HR = 1.03 , p = 0.761
Docetaxel with placebo or ramucirumab [12] (<i>n</i> = 1253)	Second-line	23 % versus 14 % P < 0.0001	4.5 versus 3.0 months HR = 0.76 , p < 0.0001	10.5 versus 9.1 months HR = 0.86, p = 0.023

 Table 1
 Select phase III trials of anti-angiogenesis agents in advanced non-small cell lung cancer

^aThis is a 3-arm trials and bevacizumab 7.5 mg/kg and 15 mg/kg were compared to placebo arm HR: hazard ratio

A higher rate of toxicity was not observed in the squamous histology subset. In the ramucirumab compared to the docetaxel alone arm, a higher rate of febrile neutropenia was observed (10 % vs. 6 %); a similar rate of grade \geq 3 hemorrhage (2 % in each arm) and hypertension (6 % vs. 2 %) were observed in the two arms. A predictive biomarker for ramucirumab has not been identified.

3 Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor (EGFR) Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors in EGFR Mutant NSCLC

In the early trials of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI), patients with history of light or never smoking, adenocarcinoma histology, and Asian ethnicity were observed to higher response rate [13]. Patients with these clinical characteristics were subsequently found to have a high rate of activating *EGFR* mutations, defined as exon 19 deletions or exon 21 L858R point mutations [14, 15]. Based on these clinical observations, a prospective phase III trial compared gefitinib to carboplatin/paclitaxel in patients with a history of light or never smoking and advanced NSCLC with adenocarcinoma histology was performed in Asia [16]. Patients assigned to the gefitinib compared to carboplatin and paclitaxel arm experienced a statistically significant higher ORR and longer PFS in the intent-to-treat patient population. In the subgroup of patients with a confirmed EGFR mutation (n = 261), patients assigned to gefitinib compared to carboplatin and paclitaxel experienced a statistically significant higher ORR and PFS (Table 2). Patients who did not have an *EGFR* mutation (n = 176) assigned to the gefitinib arm compared to the carboplatin and paclitaxel arm had a statistically significant lower ORR (1.1 % vs. 23.5 %, p < 0.001) and shorter PFS (HR of 2.85; 95 % CI, 2.05–3.98, p < 0.001; median PFS of 1.5 and 5.5 months) [16, 17]. The rate of *EGFR* mutations in this clinically enriched cohort was approximately 60 %. This trial established *EGFR* mutation as opposed to *EGFR* fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) and EGFR immunohistochemistry (IHC) as the preferred biomarker for selection of EGFR TKI therapy [17]. It also established that clinical characteristics were not sufficient to select patients for first-line EGFR TKI and *EGFR* mutation testing was required. Additional trials comparing EGFR TKI to platinum doublets have been performed which required the presence of an *EGFR* mutation for enrollment (Table 2). These trials have consistently shown a

Trial (# of patients)	Comparison	Objective response rate	Median progression-free survival	Median overall survival
IPASS [16, 17] $(n = 261)^{a}$	Gefitinib versus carboplatin and paclitaxel	71.2 % versus 47.3 % <i>p</i> < 0.001	9.5 versus 6.3 months HR = 0.48, <i>p</i> < 0.001	21.6 versus 21.9 HR = 1.00 , p = 0.990
NEJSG [18] (<i>n</i> = 200)	Gefitinib versus carboplatin and paclitaxel	73.7 % versus 30.7 % P < 0.001	10.8 versus 5.4 months HR = 0.30 , p < 0.001	30.5 versus 23.6 months P = 0.31
WJTOG [19] (<i>n</i> = 172)	Gefitinib versus cisplatin and docetaxel	62.1 % versus 32.2 % P < 0.0001	9.2 versus 6.3 months HR = 0.489, <i>p</i> < 0.0001	30.9 versus not reached HR = 1.638 , p = 0.211
CTONG [24] (<i>n</i> = 165)	Erlotinib versus carboplatin and gemcitabine	83.0 % versus 36 % P < 0.0001	13.1 versus 4.6 months HR = 0.16, <i>p</i> < 0.001	22.69 versus 28.85 months HR = 1.04, p = 06915
EURTAC [23] (<i>n</i> = 174)	Erlotinib versus platinum-doublet	58 % versus 15 %	9.7 versus 5.2 months HR = 0.37, <i>p</i> < 0.0001	19.3 versus 19.5 months HR = 1.04 , p = 0.87
LUX Lung-3 [21] (<i>n</i> = 345)	Afatinib versus cisplatin and pemetrexed	56 % versus 23 % P < 0.001	11.1 versus 6.9 months HR = 0.58, <i>p</i> < 0.001	28.2 versus 28.2 months HR = 0.88 , p = 0.39
LUX Lung-6 [20] (<i>n</i> = 364)	Afatinib versus cisplatin and gemcitabine	66.9 % versus 23.0 % P < 0.0001	11.0 versus 5.6 months HR = 0.28, <i>p</i> < 0.0001	23.1 versus 23.5 months HR = 0.93 , p = 0.61

Table 2 Select trials of epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors compared to platinum-based chemotherapy

IPASS Iressa Pan Asia Study, *NEJSG* North East Japan Study Group, *WJTOG* West Japan Thoracic Oncology Group, *CTONG* Chinese Thoracic Oncology Group, *EURTAC* European Tarceva versus Chemotherapy, *HR* hazard ratio

^aThe data represent the subgroup with a confirmed *EGFR* mutation

superiority in ORR, PFS, and quality of life in the EGFR TKI arm [18–26]. The most common adverse events observed with this class of agents are rash and diarrhea, and less common serious adverse events include stomatitis, paronychia, and interstitial pneumonitis.

Retrospective analyses observed that patients with EGFR exon 19 deletions compared to exon 21 L858R had better outcomes with EGFR TKIs, but clinically patients with exon 19 or 21 EGFR mutations were treated the same. A recent combined analysis of two trials of afatinib compared to platinum-based chemotherapy has challenged the assumption EGFR exon 19 and exon 21 should be treated similarly [27]. In the combined analysis of the two trials, in patients with an EGFR exon 19 and exon 21 L858R mutations (n = 631) a statistically significant longer OS was observed in patients assigned to afatinib compared to platinum-based therapy (hazard ratio (HR) of 0.81, 95 % confidence interval (CI), 0.66–0.99; p = 0.037; median OS of 27.3 and 24.3 months, respectively). When patients were analyzed by mutation type, the OS difference remained statistically significant in the exon 19 deletion patient subgroup (n = 355, HR of 0.59, 95 % CI, 0.45–0.77; p = 0.0001; median OS of 31.7 and 20.7 months, respectively). However, a statistically significant difference in OS was not observed in the exon 21 L858R deletion subgroup (n = 276, HR of 1.25, 95 % CI, 0.92–1.71; p = 0.16; median OS of 22.1 and 26.9 months, respectively). This observation raises the question whether afatinib is a better EGFR TKI for patients with EGFR exon 19 deletions since previous trials of EGFR TKI compared to platinum-based therapy have revealed an improvement in ORR and PFS, but not an OS improvement in the intent-to-treat patient population.

The development of EGFR TKI therapy in patients with *EGFR* mutant NSCLC has been a significant therapeutic advance; however, disease progression is inevitable and generally occurs within 10–15 months. Multiple mechanisms of resistance have been identified, but approximately 50–60 % of *EGFR* mutant NSCLC develop a T790M resistance mutation [28–30]. A separate chapter focuses of the mechanisms of resistance and drugs in development for this patient population.

4 EGFR Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors in Secondor Third-Line Setting

Erlotinib is currently available for patients who have progressed on platinum-based chemotherapy based on a phase III trial of erlotinib compared to best supportive care which revealed an improvement in ORR, PFS, OS, and QoL [31, 32]. An analysis of the benefit according to tumor molecular characteristics revealed that OS was not influenced by *EGFR* mutation status [33]. Thus, erlotinib is available as a treatment in the second- and third-line settings regardless of *EGFR* mutation status. However, the limited activity observed in the *EGFR* wild-type NSCLC in the first-line setting raised questions about the efficacy of EGFR TKIs in the second- and third-line settings. A prospective trial enrolled patients who had experienced disease progression after platinum-based therapy with *EGFR* wild-type tumors to

docetaxel or erlotinib (n = 222) [34]. Patients assigned to the docetaxel compared to erlotinib experienced a superior OS (HR of 0.73, 95 % CI, 0.523–1.00; p = 0.05; median OS of 8.2 and 5.4 months, respectively) and PFS (HR of 0.71, 95 % CI, 0.53–0.95; p = 0.02; median 2.9 and 2.4 months). These data support the use of chemotherapy as the preferred second-line therapy for patients who are candidates for second-line chemotherapy.

There has been considerable interest in defining an *EGFR* mutation wild-type patient population who may benefit from EGFR TKIs in the second- and third-line setting based on clinical factors or a predictive biomarker. A multivariate serum proteomic test can classify patients into two categories related to good or poor outcome from EGFR TKI therapy [35]. A phase III trial prospectively assessed the proteomic signature and stratified patients based on good or poor status and then randomized patients to erlotinib or second-line chemotherapy [36]. A statistically significant interaction between treatment and proteomic classification was observed (p = 0.017). Among patient with proteomic classification of good, patients assigned to the chemotherapy compared to erlotinib had a similar OS (HR of 1.06, 95 % CI, 0.77-1.47; p = 0.714; median OS of 10.9 and 11.0 months). Among patients with proteomic classification of poor, patients assigned to the erlotinib arm compared to the chemotherapy arm had a statistically significant worse OS (HR of 1.72, 95 % CI, 1.08–2.74, p = 0.022; median of OS of 3.0 and 6.4 months). Patients with the serum proteomic status of poor should not receive erlotinib, and the primary utility of the test is in EGFR wild-type NSCLC.

5 Adjuvant Epidermal Growth Factor Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors

Given the promising activity of EGFR TKIs in patients with metastatic *EGFR* mutant NSCLC, there is significant interest in developing the agents as adjuvant therapy for patients with completely resected *EGFR* mutant NSCLC. A single-arm phase II trial investigated erlotinib 150 mg daily for two years in patients with resected stage IA to IIIA *EGFR* mutant NSCLC [37]. The primary end-point was 2-year disease-free survival (DFS) of 86 %, and a 100 patients were enrolled. Of the patients enrolled, 69 % of patients tolerated at least 22 months of erlotinib, and 40 % need at least one dose reduction. The 2-year DFS observed was 89 %, and median DFS has not yet been reached. Twenty-nine patients have recurred, and the median time recurrence after stopping erlotinib was 8.5 months (range 0–47 months). The OS data is immature.

A phase III trial investigated adjuvant erlotinib compared to placebo in patients with resected stage IB to IIIA NSCLC with EGFR-positive IHC or FISH. Patients could have received adjuvant chemotherapy. The primary end-point was DFS, and the patients assigned to adjuvant erlotinib compared to placebo experienced a similar DFS in the intent-to-treat patient population (HR of 0.90; 95 % CI, 0.741–1.104; p = 0.3235; median DFS 50.2 and 48.2 months, respectively). Of the 973

patients enrolled, 161 patients had NSCLC harboring an *EGFR* mutation. Patients with *EGFR* mutant NSCLC assigned to the erlotinib compared to the placebo arm had a longer DFS (HR of 0.61, 95 % CI, 0.384–0.981; p = 0.0391). Due to the hierarchical testing procedure, this result is not considered statistically significant.

At this time, the data do not support the use of adjuvant EGFR TKI in unselected patients. In *EGFR* mutant NSCLC, adjuvant EGFR TKI appears to delay disease recurrence, but data demonstrating improvement in OS are not available. There remain several significant concerns about the use of adjuvant EGFR TKIs, and the questions about the appropriate dose and duration of therapy. The National Cancer Institute Adjuvant Lung Cancer Enrichment Marker Identification and Sequencing Trial (ALCHEMIST, NCT02194738) is currently screening surgically resected patients for molecular abnormalities [38]. Patients with *EGFR* mutant NSCLC will be enrolled on a clinical trial ALCHEMIST-EGFR (NCT02193282) which investigates adjuvant erlotinib 150 mg daily for two years compared to placebo. The primary end-point is OS, and the trial will enroll 410 patients. At this time, the use adjuvant EGFR TKI cannot be recommended outside the context of a clinical trial, and patients should be encouraged to enroll in the ALCHEMIST trial.

6 Anaplastic Lymphoma Kinase Inhibitors

Anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) rearrangements were first detected in NSCLC in 2007, and the rate of ALK translocations among patients with adenocarcinoma is estimated to be approximately 8 % [3]. ALK rearrangements are more common in patients with adenocarcinoma histology and a history of never or light smoking [39, 40]. The anaplastic lymphoma kinase inhibitor crizotinib was approved in 2011 based on the promising activity observed in a phase I study with an expansion cohort in patients with advanced NSCLC and a confirm ALK rearrangement [41]. The early identification of a predictive biomarker significantly accelerated the drug development and approval process of crizotinib. Two subsequent trials investigated crizotinib in patients with advanced NSCLC with a confirmed ALK rearrangement compared to platinum-pemetrexed in first-line setting or compared to docetaxel or pemetrexed in the second-line setting [42, 43]. In both trials, patients assigned to crizotinib compared to chemotherapy had a statistically significant higher ORR and longer PFS, and better QoL (Table 3). Patients with ALK rearrangement appear to have a higher ORR with pemetrexed compared to historical controls of unselected patients with non-squamous histology who received pemetrexed [43, 44]. The most common adverse events observed with crizotinib are visual disturbances, diarrhea, edema, vomiting, constipation, and elevated liver enzymes. The most common grade 3 or 4 adverse events occurring at a rate of >5 % are elevated liver enzymes and neutropenia.

Ceritinib is a second-generation ALK inhibitor that is 20 times as potent ALK inhibitor as crizotinib. Ceritinib has revealed activity in patients who have progressed after crizotinib or who were intolerant of crizotinib and crizotinib-naïve

Comparison (# of patients)	Objective response rate	Median progression-free survival	Median overall survival
Crizotinib versus chemotherapy (docetaxel or pemetrexed) (<i>n</i> = 347) [43]	65 % versus 20 % p < 0.001	7.7 versus 3.0 months HR = 0.49, <i>p</i> < 0.001	20.3 versus 22.8 months HR = 1.02 , p = 054
Crizotinib versus platinum– pemetrexed (<i>n</i> = 343) [42]	74 % versus 45 % P < 0.001	10.9 versus 7.0 months HR = 0.45, <i>p</i> < 0.001	Not reached HR = 0.82 , p = 0.36
Ceritnib [45] (n = 114) Ceritinib (prior crizotinib) (n = 80) Ceritinib (crizotinib naïve) (n = 34)	58 % 56 % 62 %	7.0 months 6.9 months Not reached	Not reached Not reached Not reached
Alectinib (prior crizotinib) [47] (n = 47) Alectinib (crizotinib naïve) [46] (n = 43)	55 % 93.5 %	Not reached Not reached	Not reached Not reached

Table 3 Select trials of ALK inhibitors in patients with NSCLC with ALK rearrangements

ALK anaplastic lymphoma kinase, HR hazard ratio

^aData represent patients receiving a minimum of ceritinib 400 mg daily

patients (Table 3) [45]. The grade 3 or 4 adverse events occurring at a rate of >5% are elevated liver enzymes, diarrhea, elevated lipase, nausea, fatigue, and vomiting. Approximately 60% of patients treated at the approved dose of 750 mg required at least one dose reduction. Responses were observed in patients with untreated CNS lesions which is clinically relevant since many patients are presented with or develop brain metastases.

Alectinib is a highly selective ALK inhibitor that has demonstrated activity against the L1196M crizotinib resistance mutation [46]. Alectinib was investigated in phase I/II trial in patients with ALK rearranged NSCLC who ALK inhibitor naïve; the primary end-point of the phase II was ORR. The recommended dose for phase II was 300 mg twice daily, and the ORR observed in the phase II cohort was 93.5 % (95 % CI, 82.1-98.6 %). The grade 3 treatment-related adverse events observed were decreased neutrophil count (4 %), increased creatinine phosphokinase (4 %), increased liver enzymes (2 %), increased bilirubin (2 %), and rash (2 %). The data on PFS was immature at the time publication. Activity was demonstrated in patients with treated and untreated brain metastases. Alectinib was investigated in a separate phase I/II trial in patients with ALK rearranged NSCLC who had progressed on or were intolerant of crizotinib; the primary end-point of the phase II trial was ORR [47]. Alectinib 600 mg twice a day was selected based on the toxicities and tolerability observed in the phase I portion of the trial for further investigation in the phase II portion of the trial. The ORR observed was 55 %, and the PFS data were immature at the time of publication. Of the 21 patients with CNS

disease at baseline, 52 % had an objective response and 38 % had stable disease. The most common grade 3 or 4 adverse events were increased gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase, decreased neutrophil count, and hypophosphatemia. Both alectinib and ceretinib have demonstrated activity in patients who have progressed on or were intolerant of crizotinib, in patients with CNS disease, and ALK inhibitor-naïve patients.

ROS1 rearrangements are detected in approximately 1 % of cases of NSCLC and are more commonly found in patients with a history of never or light smoking and adenocarcinoma histology [48]. Preclinical data revealed significant activity of crizotinib in cell lines with *ROS1* rearrangements [48]. A single-arm phase II trial investigated crizotinib in 50 patients who tested for *ROS1* rearrangement revealed an ORR of 72 % (95 % CI, 58–84 %), and a median PFS of 19.2 months (95 % CI, 14.4 to not reached) [49]. A second study of 30 patients revealed an ORR of 80 % and a median PFS of 9.1 months [50]. Both of these trials are small, but demonstrate significant activity of crizotinib in patients NSCLC with *ROS1* rearrangements.

7 BRAF Inhibitors

BRAF mutations are detected in approximately 2-3 % of NSCLC with adenocarcinoma histology and are more frequently detected in patients with a history of tobacco use, and approximately 50-75 % of the BRAF mutations are the BRAF V600E mutation seen in melanoma [3, 51]. Vemurafenib and dabrafenib have demonstrated significant activity in patients with metastatic melanoma who harbor a BRAF V600E mutation. A single-arm phase II trial investigated dabrafenib in patients with advanced stage NSCLC with *BRAF* V600E mutant NSCLC (n = 84). The ORR by independent review committee was 28 % (95 % CI, 18-41 %) [52]. Given the activity of the BRAF inhibitors in combination with MEK inhibitors observed in BRAF V600E mutant melanoma, the combination of dabrafenib and trametinib was investigated in a single-arm phase II trial in patients with BRAF V600E mutant NSCLC (n = 33) [53]. An interim analysis revealed an ORR of 63 % (95 % CI, 40.6–81.2 %), and the trial meet the criteria to continue to the second stage. Grade 3 adverse events occurred in 39 % of patients, and the most frequent grade 3 adverse events were hyponatremia (6 %), neutropenia (6 %), and dehydration (6 %). One patient had grade 4 hyponatremia and one patient had grade 5 pleural effusion. Case reports have demonstrated activity of vemurafenib in patients with BRAF mutant V600E NSCLC [54, 55]. While these data are not definitive, they do suggest potential activity of BRAF inhibitors alone and in combination with MEK inhibitors in patients with NSCLC with a BRAF V600E mutation.

8 Squamous NSCLC

The development of targeted therapies for NSCLC with squamous histology has been more difficult, and this subtype of NSCLC has a lower rate of *EGFR* mutations and *ALK* rearrangements. A retrospective found the rate of EGFR mutations in patients with squamous histology based on immunohistochemistry testing was 0 % (95 % CI, 0–3.8 %) [56]. Given the low prevalence of *EGFR* mutations and *ALK* rearrangements, routine molecular testing is not recommended. NSCLC with squamous histology also have greater genomic complexity and frequently a single tumor will have multiple oncogenic mutations which makes it less susceptible to an agent that inhibits a single oncogenic pathway [57].

A phase III trial investigated cisplatin and gemcitabine with and without necitumumab, a monoclonal antibody against the extracellular domain of the EGFR receptor, in patients with advanced NSCLC with squamous histology [58]. Patients assigned to the necitumumab containing arm compared to the chemotherapy alone arm experienced a similar response rate (31.2 % vs. 28.8 %, p = 0.400), but a statistically significant longer PFS (HR of 0.85; 95 % CI, 074–098; p = 0.20; median 5.7 and 5.5 months, respectively) and OS (HR of 0.84, 95 % CI, 074–0.96; p = 0.012; median OS of 11.5 and 9.9 months). Patients assigned to the necitumumab compared to the chemotherapy alone arm experienced a higher rate of grade \geq 3 hypomagnesemia (9.3 % vs. 1.1 %), and skin rash (7.1 % vs. 0.4 %). An exploratory analysis of EGFR expression using the H-score found that the H-score was not predictive of PFS or OS benefit with necitumumab. While the OS benefit is modest, this trial does represent the first improvement in OS with a targeted therapy in combination with platinum-based chemotherapy compared to platinum-based chemotherapy alone in patients with squamous NSCLC.

A phase III study investigated afatinib compared to erlotinib as second-line therapy in patients with squamous histology who had experienced disease progression after platinum-based therapy (n = 795) [59]. The primary end-point was PFS, and a secondary end-point was OS. Patients assigned to afatinib compared to erlotinib experienced a statistically significant longer PFS (HR of 0.81, 95 % CI, 0.69–0.96; p = 0.01; median PFS of 2.6 and 1.9 months, respectively) and OS (HR of 0.81, 95 % CI, 0.69–0.95; p = 0.008; median OS of 7.9 and 6.8 months, respectively). Patients assigned to the afatinib compared to the erlotinib arm experienced a higher rate of treatment-related grade 3 or 4 diarrhea (10.4 % vs. 2.6 %), grade 3 stomatitis (4.1 % vs. 0 %), and a lower rate of grade 3 rash (5.9 % vs. 10.4 %). Patients assigned to afatinib compared to erlotinib experienced a statistically significant improvement in global quality of life and improvement in the symptoms of cough and dyspnea. Afatinib is currently available for first-line therapy for patients with MSCLC with *EGFR* exon 19 and 21 mutations and as second-line therapy for patients with metastatic squamous NSCLC.

9 Small Cell Lung Cancer

Small cell lung cancer (SCLC) frequently demonstrates multiple oncogenic mutations and has inactivation of the tumor suppressor genes p53 and RB1, and to date, a mutation that is susceptible to tyrosine kinase inhibitor has not been identified [60, 61]. Anti-angiogenesis therapy has been investigated in extensive stage (ES-SCLC), and agents have been shown to extend PFS but not OS. A randomized phase II investigate platinum etoposide with and without bevacizumab, and the primary end-point was PFS (n = 102) [62]. Patients assigned to the bevacizumab arm experienced a statistically significant longer PFS (HR of 0.53; 95 % CI, 0.32-0.86; median 5.5 and 4.40 months, respectively) and similar OS (HR of 1.16; 95 % CI, 0.66-2.04; median 9.4 and 10.9 months, respectively). A randomized phase II trial investigated maintenance sunitinib compared to placebo in patients who had stable disease or response to four or six cycles of platinum-etoposide [63]. Of the 138 patients who initiated chemotherapy, 85 patients were randomized to sunitinib or placebo. Patients assigned to placebo compared to sunitinib had a statistically significant worse PFS (HR of 1.62; 95 % CI, 1.02-2.60; p = 0.02; median PFS 2.1 and 3.7 months, respectively) and similar OS (HR of 1.28; 95 % CI, 0.79–2.10; p = 0.16; median OS of 6.9 and 9.0 months, respectively). While both of these trials met the primary end-point of improvement in PFS, it is unlikely that either of these agents will be investigated in a phase III trial.

10 Conclusions

There are currently several standard targeted therapies available for patients with advanced NSCLC, and the targeted therapies generally fall into two classes: monoclonal antibodies against a specific target or tyrosine kinase inhibitors. In general, the monoclonal antibodies have demonstrated modest differences in efficacy and do not have a biomarker to select patients for treatment. TKIs have demonstrated significant efficacy, and several predictive molecular markers are available (e.g., *EGFR* mutation status, and *ALK* or *ROS1* rearrangements). The development of predictive biomarker for targeted therapies has significantly accelerated drug development and improved clinical care in a relatively short period of time. Targeted therapies are the focus of drug development in lung cancer, and a number of promising agents are in development. The development of widely available next-generation tumor sequencing has made the identification of patients for targeted therapies much convenient and efficient.

References

- Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, Ferlay J, Lortet-Tieulent J, Jemal A (2015) Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin 65: 87–108
- 2. Siegel R, Ma J, Zou Z, Jemal A (2014) Cancer statistics, 2014. CA Cancer J Clin 64:9-29

- 3. Kris MG, Johnson BE, Berry LD, Kwiatkowski DJ, Iafrate AJ, Wistuba II, Varella-Garcia M, Franklin WA, Aronson SL, Su PF, Shyr Y, Camidge DR, Sequist LV, Glisson BS, Khuri FR, Garon EB, Pao W, Rudin C, Schiller J, Haura EB, Socinski M, Shirai K, Chen H, Giaccone G, Ladanyi M, Kugler K, Minna JD, Bunn PA (2014) Using multiplexed assays of oncogenic drivers in lung cancers to select targeted drugs. JAMA 311:1998–2006
- 4. Govindan R, Page N, Morgensztern D, Read W, Tierney R, Vlahiotis A, Spitznagel EL, Piccirillo J (2006) Changing epidemiology of small-cell lung cancer in the United States over the last 30 years: analysis of the surveillance, epidemiologic, and end results database. J Clin Oncol 24:4539–4544
- Schiller JH, Harrington D, Belani CP, Langer C, Sandler A, Krook J, Zhu J, Johnson DH (2002) Comparison of four chemotherapy regimens for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 346:92–98
- Breathnach O, Freidlin B, Conley B, Green M, Johnson D, Gandara D, O'Connell M, Shepherd F, Johnson B (2001) Twenty-two years of phase III trials for patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer: sobering results. J Clin Oncol 19:1734–1742
- 7. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA (2011) Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 144:646-674
- 8. Johnson DH, Fehrenbacher L, Novotny WF, Herbst RS, Nemunaitis JJ, Jablons DM, Langer CJ, DeVore RF 3rd, Gaudreault J, Damico LA, Holmgren E, Kabbinavar F (2004) Randomized phase II trial comparing bevacizumab plus carboplatin and paclitaxel with carboplatin and paclitaxel alone in previously untreated locally advanced or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 22:2184–2191
- Sandler A, Gray R, Perry MC, Brahmer J, Schiller JH, Dowlati A, Lilenbaum R, Johnson DH (2006) Paclitaxel-carboplatin alone or with bevacizumab for non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 355:2542–2550
- Reck M, von Pawel J, Zatloukal P, Ramlau R, Gorbounova V, Hirsh V, Leighl N, Mezger J, Archer V, Moore N, Manegold C (2009) Phase III trial of cisplatin plus gemcitabine with either placebo or bevacizumab as first-line therapy for nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer: AVAil. J Clin Oncol 27:1227–1234
- 11. Reck M, von Pawel J, Zatloukal P, Ramlau R, Gorbounova V, Hirsh V, Leighl N, Mezger J, Archer V, Moore N, Manegold C (2010) Overall survival with cisplatin-gemcitabine and bevacizumab or placebo as first-line therapy for nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer: results from a randomised phase III trial (AVAiL). Ann Oncol 21:1804–1809
- 12. Garon EB, Ciuleanu TE, Arrieta O, Prabhash K, Syrigos KN, Goksel T, Park K, Gorbunova V, Kowalyszyn RD, Pikiel J, Czyzewicz G, Orlov SV, Lewanski CR, Thomas M, Bidoli P, Dakhil S, Gans S, Kim JH, Grigorescu A, Karaseva N, Reck M, Cappuzzo F, Alexandris E, Sashegyi A, Yurasov S, Perol M (2014) Ramucirumab plus docetaxel versus placebo plus docetaxel for second-line treatment of stage IV non-small-cell lung cancer after disease progression on platinum-based therapy (REVEL): a multicentre, double-blind, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet 384:665–673
- 13. Miller VA, Riely GJ, Zakowski MF, Li AR, Patel JD, Heelan RT, Kris MG, Sandler AB, Carbone DP, Tsao A, Herbst RS, Heller G, Ladanyi M, Pao W, Johnson DH (2008) Molecular characteristics of bronchioloalveolar carcinoma and adenocarcinoma, bronchioloalveolar carcinoma subtype, predict response to erlotinib. J Clin Oncol 26:1472–1478
- 14. Lynch TJ, Bell DW, Sordella R, Gurubhagavatula S, Okimoto RA, Brannigan BW, Harris PL, Haserlat SM, Supko JG, Haluska FG, Louis DN, Christiani DC, Settleman J, Haber DA (2004) Activating mutations in the epidermal growth factor receptor underlying responsiveness of non-small-cell lung cancer to gefitinib. N Engl J Med 350:2129–2139
- Paez JG, Janne PA, Lee JC, Tracy S, Greulich H, Gabriel S, Herman P, Kaye FJ, Lindeman N, Boggon TJ, Naoki K, Sasaki H, Fujii Y, Eck MJ, Sellers WR, Johnson BE, Meyerson M (2004) EGFR mutations in lung cancer: correlation with clinical response to gefitinib therapy. Science 304:1497–1500
- Mok TS, Wu YL, Thongprasert S, Yang CH, Chu DT, Saijo N, Sunpaweravong P, Han B, Margono B, Ichinose Y, Nishiwaki Y, Ohe Y, Yang JJ, Chewaskulyong B, Jiang H,

Duffield EL, Watkins CL, Armour AA, Fukuoka M (2009) Gefitinib or carboplatin-paclitaxel in pulmonary adenocarcinoma. N Engl J Med 361:947–957

- 17. Fukuoka M, Wu YL, Thongprasert S, Sunpaweravong P, Leong SS, Sriuranpong V, Chao TY, Nakagawa K, Chu DT, Saijo N, Duffield EL, Rukazenkov Y, Speake G, Jiang H, Armour AA, To KF, Yang JC, Mok TS (2011) Biomarker analyses and final overall survival results from a phase III, randomized, open-label, first-line study of gefitinib versus carboplatin/paclitaxel in clinically selected patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer in Asia (IPASS). J Clin Oncol 29:2866–2874
- 18. Maemondo M, Inoue A, Kobayashi K, Sugawara S, Oizumi S, Isobe H, Gemma A, Harada M, Yoshizawa H, Kinoshita I, Fujita Y, Okinaga S, Hirano H, Yoshimori K, Harada T, Ogura T, Ando M, Miyazawa H, Tanaka T, Saijo Y, Hagiwara K, Morita S, Nukiwa T (2010) Gefitinib or chemotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer with mutated EGFR. N Engl J Med 362:2380– 2388
- 19. Mitsudomi T, Morita S, Yatabe Y, Negoro S, Okamoto I, Tsurutani J, Seto T, Satouchi M, Tada H, Hirashima T, Asami K, Katakami N, Takada M, Yoshioka H, Shibata K, Kudoh S, Shimizu E, Saito H, Toyooka S, Nakagawa K, Fukuoka M (2010) Gefitinib versus cisplatin plus docetaxel in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer harbouring mutations of the epidermal growth factor receptor (WJTOG3405): an open label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 11:121–128
- 20. Sequist LV, Yang JC, Yamamoto N, O'Byrne K, Hirsh V, Mok T, Geater SL, Orlov S, Tsai CM, Boyer M, Su WC, Bennouna J, Kato T, Gorbunova V, Lee KH, Shah R, Massey D, Zazulina V, Shahidi M, Schuler M (2013) Phase III study of afatinib or cisplatin plus pemetrexed in patients with metastatic lung adenocarcinoma with EGFR mutations. J Clin Oncol 31:3327–3334
- 21. Yang JC, Hirsh V, Schuler M, Yamamoto N, O'Byrne KJ, Mok TS, Zazulina V, Shahidi M, Lungershausen J, Massey D, Palmer M, Sequist LV (2013) Symptom control and quality of life in LUX-Lung 3: a phase III study of afatinib or cisplatin/pemetrexed in patients with advanced lung adenocarcinoma with EGFR mutations. J Clin Oncol 31:3342–3350
- 22. Wu YL, Zhou C, Hu CP, Feng J, Lu S, Huang Y, Li W, Hou M, Shi JH, Lee KY, Xu CR, Massey D, Kim M, Shi Y, Geater SL (2014) Afatinib versus cisplatin plus gemcitabine for first-line treatment of Asian patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer harbouring EGFR mutations (LUX-Lung 6): an open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 15:213–222
- 23. Rosell R, Carcereny E, Gervais R, Vergnenegre A, Massuti B, Felip E, Palmero R, Garcia-Gomez R, Pallares C, Sanchez JM, Porta R, Cobo M, Garrido P, Longo F, Moran T, Insa A, De Marinis F, Corre R, Bover I, Illiano A, Dansin E, de Castro J, Milella M, Reguart N, Altavilla G, Jimenez U, Provencio M, Moreno MA, Terrasa J, Munoz-Langa J, Valdivia J, Isla D, Domine M, Molinier O, Mazieres J, Baize N, Garcia-Campelo R, Robinet G, Rodriguez-Abreu D, Lopez-Vivanco G, Gebbia V, Ferrera-Delgado L, Bombaron P, Bernabe R, Bearz A, Artal A, Cortesi E, Rolfo C, Sanchez-Ronco M, Drozdowskyj A, Queralt C, de Aguirre I, Ramirez JL, Sanchez JJ, Molina MA, Taron M, Paz-Ares L (2012) Erlotinib versus standard chemotherapy as first-line treatment for European patients with advanced EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (EURTAC): a multicentre, open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 13:239–246
- 24. Zhou C, Wu YL, Chen G, Feng J, Liu XQ, Wang C, Zhang S, Wang J, Zhou S, Ren S, Lu S, Zhang L, Hu C, Hu C, Luo Y, Chen L, Ye M, Huang J, Zhi X, Zhang Y, Xiu Q, Ma J, Zhang L, You C (2011) Erlotinib versus chemotherapy as first-line treatment for patients with advanced EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (OPTIMAL, CTONG-0802): a multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol 12:735–742
- 25. Thongprasert S, Duffield E, Saijo N, Wu YL, Yang JC, Chu DT, Liao M, Chen YM, Kuo HP, Negoro S, Lam KC, Armour A, Magill P, Fukuoka M (2011) Health-related quality-of-life in a randomized phase III first-line study of gefitinib versus carboplatin/paclitaxel in clinically selected patients from Asia with advanced NSCLC (IPASS). J Thorac Oncol 6:1872–1880

- 26. Oizumi S, Kobayashi K, Inoue A, Maemondo M, Sugawara S, Yoshizawa H, Isobe H, Harada M, Kinoshita I, Okinaga S, Kato T, Harada T, Gemma A, Saijo Y, Yokomizo Y, Morita S, Hagiwara K, Nukiwa T (2012) Quality of life with gefitinib in patients with EGFR-mutated non-small cell lung cancer: quality of life analysis of North East Japan study group 002 trial. Oncologist 17:863–870
- 27. Yang JC, Wu YL, Schuler M, Sebastian M, Popat S, Yamamoto N, Zhou C, Hu CP, O'Byrne K, Feng J, Lu S, Huang Y, Geater SL, Lee KY, Tsai CM, Gorbunova V, Hirsh V, Bennouna J, Orlov S, Mok T, Boyer M, Su WC, Lee KH, Kato T, Massey D, Shahidi M, Zazulina V, Sequist LV (2015) Afatinib versus cisplatin-based chemotherapy for EGFR mutation-positive lung adenocarcinoma (LUX-Lung 3 and LUX-Lung 6): analysis of overall survival data from two randomised, phase 3 trials. Lancet Oncol 16:141–151
- Yu HA, Arcila ME, Rekhtman N, Sima CS, Zakowski MF, Pao W, Kris MG, Miller VA, Ladanyi M, Riely GJ (2013) Analysis of tumor specimens at the time of acquired resistance to EGFR-TKI therapy in 155 patients with EGFR-mutant lung cancers. Clin Cancer Res 19:2240–2247
- 29. Sequist LV, Waltman BA, Dias-Santagata D, Digumarthy S, Turke AB, Fidias P, Bergethon K, Shaw AT, Gettinger S, Cosper AK, Akhavanfard S, Heist RS, Temel J, Christensen JG, Wain JC, Lynch TJ, Vernovsky K, Mark EJ, Lanuti M, Iafrate AJ, Mino-Kenudson M, Engelman JA (2011) Genotypic and histological evolution of lung cancers acquiring resistance to EGFR inhibitors. Sci Transl Med 3:75ra26
- 30. Ohashi K, Sequist LV, Arcila ME, Moran T, Chmielecki J, Lin YL, Pan Y, Wang L, de Stanchina E, Shien K, Aoe K, Toyooka S, Kiura K, Fernandez-Cuesta L, Fidias P, Yang JC, Miller VA, Riely GJ, Kris MG, Engelman JA, Vnencak-Jones CL, Dias-Santagata D, Ladanyi M, Pao W (2012) Lung cancers with acquired resistance to EGFR inhibitors occasionally harbor BRAF gene mutations but lack mutations in KRAS, NRAS, or MEK1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:E2127–E2133
- 31. Shepherd FA, Rodrigues Pereira J, Ciuleanu T, Tan EH, Hirsh V, Thongprasert S, Campos D, Maoleekoonpiroj S, Smylie M, Martins R, van Kooten M, Dediu M, Findlay B, Tu D, Johnston D, Bezjak A, Clark G, Santabarbara P, Seymour L (2005) Erlotinib in previously treated non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 353:123–132
- 32. Bezjak A, Tu D, Seymour L, Clark G, Trajkovic A, Zukin M, Ayoub J, Lago S, de Albuquerque Ribeiro R, Gerogianni A, Cyjon A, Noble J, Laberge F, Chan RT, Fenton D, von Pawel J, Reck M, Shepherd FA (2006) Symptom improvement in lung cancer patients treated with erlotinib: quality of life analysis of the National Cancer Institute of Canada clinical trials group study BR.21. J Clin Oncol 24:3831–3837
- 33. Tsao MS, Sakurada A, Cutz JC, Zhu CQ, Kamel-Reid S, Squire J, Lorimer I, Zhang T, Liu N, Daneshmand M, Marrano P, da Cunha Santos G, Lagarde A, Richardson F, Seymour L, Whitehead M, Ding K, Pater J, Shepherd FA (2005) Erlotinib in lung cancer—molecular and clinical predictors of outcome. N Engl J Med 353:133–144
- 34. Garassino MC, Martelli O, Broggini M, Farina G, Veronese S, Rulli E, Bianchi F, Bettini A, Longo F, Moscetti L, Tomirotti M, Marabese M, Ganzinelli M, Lauricella C, Labianca R, Floriani I, Giaccone G, Torri V, Scanni A, Marsoni S, trialists T (2013) Erlotinib versus docetaxel as second-line treatment of patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer and wild-type EGFR tumours (TAILOR): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol 14:981–988
- 35. Taguchi F, Solomon B, Gregorc V, Roder H, Gray R, Kasahara K, Nishio M, Brahmer J, Spreafico A, Ludovini V, Massion PP, Dziadziuszko R, Schiller J, Grigorieva J, Tsypin M, Hunsucker SW, Caprioli R, Duncan MW, Hirsch FR, Bunn PA Jr, Carbone DP (2007) Mass spectrometry to classify non-small-cell lung cancer patients for clinical outcome after treatment with epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors: a multicohort cross-institutional study. J Natl Cancer Inst 99:838–846
- 36. Gregorc V, Novello S, Lazzari C, Barni S, Aieta M, Mencoboni M, Grossi F, De Pas T, de Marinis F, Bearz A, Floriani I, Torri V, Bulotta A, Cattaneo A, Grigorieva J, Tsypin M, Roder J, Doglioni C, Levra MG, Petrelli F, Foti S, Vigano M, Bachi A, Roder H (2014)

Predictive value of a proteomic signature in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer treated with second-line erlotinib or chemotherapy (PROSE): a biomarker-stratified, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 15:713–721

- 37. Pennell NA, Neal JW, Chaft JE, Azzoli CG, Janne PA, Govindan R, Evans TL, Costa DB, Rosovsky RPG, Wakelee HA, Heist RS, Shaw AT, Temel JS, Shapiro MA, Muzikansky A, Lanuti M, Lynch TJ, Kris MG, Sequist LV (2014) SELECT: a multicenter phase II trial of adjuvant erlotinib in resected early-stage EGFR mutation-positive NSCLC. J Clin Oncol 32: (suppl; abstract 7514)
- Gerber DE, Oxnard GR, Govindan R (2015) ALCHEMIST: bringing genomic discovery and targeted therapies to early-stage lung cancer. Clin Pharmacol Ther 97:447–450
- 39. Soda M, Choi YL, Enomoto M, Takada S, Yamashita Y, Ishikawa S, Fujiwara S, Watanabe H, Kurashina K, Hatanaka H, Bando M, Ohno S, Ishikawa Y, Aburatani H, Niki T, Sohara Y, Sugiyama Y, Mano H (2007) Identification of the transforming EML4-ALK fusion gene in non-small-cell lung cancer. Nature 448:561–566
- 40. Shaw AT, Yeap BY, Mino-Kenudson M, Digumarthy SR, Costa DB, Heist RS, Solomon B, Stubbs H, Admane S, McDermott U, Settleman J, Kobayashi S, Mark EJ, Rodig SJ, Chirieac LR, Kwak EL, Lynch TJ, Iafrate AJ (2009) Clinical features and outcome of patients with non-small-cell lung cancer who harbor EML4-ALK. J Clin Oncol 27:4247–4253
- 41. Kwak EL, Bang YJ, Camidge DR, Shaw AT, Solomon B, Maki RG, Ou SH, Dezube BJ, Janne PA, Costa DB, Varella-Garcia M, Kim WH, Lynch TJ, Fidias P, Stubbs H, Engelman JA, Sequist LV, Tan W, Gandhi L, Mino-Kenudson M, Wei GC, Shreeve SM, Ratain MJ, Settleman J, Christensen JG, Haber DA, Wilner K, Salgia R, Shapiro GI, Clark JW, Iafrate AJ (2010) Anaplastic lymphoma kinase inhibition in non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 363:1693–1703
- 42. Solomon BJ, Mok T, Kim DW, Wu YL, Nakagawa K, Mekhail T, Felip E, Cappuzzo F, Paolini J, Usari T, Iyer S, Reisman A, Wilner KD, Tursi J, Blackhall F, The PI (2014) First-line crizotinib versus chemotherapy in ALK-positive lung cancer. N Engl J Med 371:2167–2177
- 43. Shaw AT, Kim DW, Nakagawa K, Seto T, Crino L, Ahn MJ, De Pas T, Besse B, Solomon BJ, Blackhall F, Wu YL, Thomas M, O'Byrne KJ, Moro-Sibilot D, Camidge DR, Mok T, Hirsh V, Riely GJ, Iyer S, Tassell V, Polli A, Wilner KD, Janne PA (2013) Crizotinib versus chemotherapy in advanced ALK-positive lung cancer. N Engl J Med 368:2385–2394
- 44. Shaw AT, Varghese AM, Solomon BJ, Costa DB, Novello S, Mino-Kenudson M, Awad MM, Engelman JA, Riely GJ, Monica V, Yeap BY, Scagliotti GV (2013) Pemetrexed-based chemotherapy in patients with advanced, ALK-positive non-small cell lung cancer. Ann Oncol 24:59–66
- 45. Shaw AT, Kim DW, Mehra R, Tan DS, Felip E, Chow LQ, Camidge DR, Vansteenkiste J, Sharma S, De Pas T, Riely GJ, Solomon BJ, Wolf J, Thomas M, Schuler M, Liu G, Santoro A, Lau YY, Goldwasser M, Boral AL, Engelman JA (2014) Ceritinib in ALK-rearranged non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 370:1189–1197
- 46. Seto T, Kiura K, Nishio M, Nakagawa K, Maemondo M, Inoue A, Hida T, Yamamoto N, Yoshioka H, Harada M, Ohe Y, Nogami N, Takeuchi K, Shimada T, Tanaka T, Tamura T (2013) CH5424802 (RO5424802) for patients with ALK-rearranged advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (AF-001JP study): a single-arm, open-label, phase 1–2 study. Lancet Oncol 14:590–598
- 47. Gadgeel SM, Gandhi L, Riely GJ, Chiappori AA, West HL, Azada MC, Morcos PN, Lee RM, Garcia L, Yu L, Boisserie F, Di Laurenzio L, Golding S, Sato J, Yokoyama S, Tanaka T, Ou SH (2014) Safety and activity of alectinib against systemic disease and brain metastases in patients with crizotinib-resistant ALK-rearranged non-small-cell lung cancer (AF-002JG): results from the dose-finding portion of a phase 1/2 study. Lancet Oncol 15:1119–1128
- 48. Bergethon K, Shaw AT, Ignatius Ou SH, Katayama R, Lovly CM, McDonald NT, Massion PP, Siwak-Tapp C, Gonzalez A, Fang R, Mark EJ, Batten JM, Chen H, Wilner KD, Kwak EL, Clark JW, Carbone DP, Ji H, Engelman JA, Mino-Kenudson M, Pao W, Iafrate AJ

(2012) ROS1 rearrangements define a unique molecular class of lung cancers. J Clin Oncol 30:863–870

- Shaw AT, Solomon BJ (2015) Crizotinib in ROS1-rearranged non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 372:683–684
- 50. Mazieres J, Zalcman G, Crino L, Biondani P, Barlesi F, Filleron T, Dingemans AM, Lena H, Monnet I, Rothschild SI, Cappuzzo F, Besse B, Thiberville L, Rouviere D, Dziadziuszko R, Smit EF, Wolf J, Spirig C, Pecuchet N, Leenders F, Heuckmann JM, Diebold J, Milia JD, Thomas RK, Gautschi O (2015) Crizotinib therapy for advanced lung adenocarcinoma and a ROS1 rearrangement: results from the EUROS1 cohort. J Clin Oncol 33:992–999
- 51. Paik PK, Arcila ME, Fara M, Sima CS, Miller VA, Kris MG, Ladanyi M, Riely GJ (2011) Clinical characteristics of patients with lung adenocarcinomas harboring BRAF mutations. J Clin Oncol 29:2046–2051
- 52. Planchard D, Kim TM, Mazieres J, Quoix E, Riely GJ, Barlesi F, Souquet PJ, Smit EF, Groen HJM, Kelly RJ, Cho BC, Socinski MA, Tucker C, Ma B, Mookerjee B, Curtis J, C.M., Johnson BE (2014) Dabrafenib in patients BRAF V600E mutant advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): a multicenter, open label, phase II trial (BRF113928). Annals of Oncology 2014;25: abstract: LBA38_PR
- 53. Planchard D, Groen HJM, Kim TM, Rigas JR, Souquet PJ, Baik CS, Barlesi F, Mazières J, Quoix EA, Curtis CM, Mookerjee B, Bartlett-Pandite AN, Tucker C, D'Amelio A, Johnson BE (2015) Interim results of a phase II study of the BRAF inhibitor (BRAFi) dabrafenib (D) in combination with the MEK inhibitor trametinib (T) in patients (pts) with BRAF V600E mutated (mut) metastatic non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). J Clin Oncol 33: abstract 8006
- Robinson SD, O'Shaughnessy JA, Cowey CL, Konduri K (2014) BRAF V600E-mutated lung adenocarcinoma with metastases to the brain responding to treatment with vemurafenib. Lung Cancer 85:326–330
- Peters S, Michielin O, Zimmermann S (2013) Dramatic response induced by vemurafenib in a BRAF V600E-mutated lung adenocarcinoma. J Clin Oncol 31:e341–e344
- 56. Rekhtman N, Paik PK, Arcila ME, Tafe LJ, Oxnard GR, Moreira AL, Travis WD, Zakowski MF, Kris MG, Ladanyi M (2012) Clarifying the spectrum of driver oncogene mutations in biomarker-verified squamous carcinoma of lung: lack of EGFR/KRAS and presence of PIK3CA/AKT1 mutations. Clin Cancer Res 18:1167–1176
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research N (2012) Comprehensive genomic characterization of squamous cell lung cancers. Nature 489:519–525
- 58. Thatcher N, Hirsch FR, Szczesna A, Ciuleanu T-E, Szafranski W, Dediu M, Ramlau R, Galiulin R, Bálint B, Losonczy G, Kazarnowicz A, Park K, Schumann C, Reck M, Paz-Ares L, Depenbrock H, Nanda S, Kruljac-Letunic A, Socinski MA (2014) A randomized, multicenter, open-label, phase III study of gemcitabine-cisplatin (GC) chemotherapy plus necitumumab (IMC-11F8/LY3012211) versus GC alone in the first-line treatment of patients (pts) with stage IV squamous non-small cell lung cancer (sq-NSCLC). J Clin Oncol 32: (suppl; abstract 8008)
- 59. Soria J-C, Felip E, Cobo M, Lu S, Syrigos KN, Lee KH, Goker E, Georgoulias V, Li W, Isla D, Guclu SZ, Morabito A, Min YJ, Ardizzoni A, Gadgeel SM, Wang B, Chand VK, Goss GD (2015) Afatinib (A) vs erlotinib (E) as second-line therapy of patients (pts) with advanced squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) of the lung following platinum-based chemotherapy: Overall survival (OS) analysis from the global phase III trial LUX-Lung 8 (LL8). J Clin Oncol 33: abstract 8002
- 60. Rudin CM, Durinck S, Stawiski EW, Poirier JT, Modrusan Z, Shames DS, Bergbower EA, Guan Y, Shin J, Guillory J, Rivers CS, Foo CK, Bhatt D, Stinson J, Gnad F, Haverty PM, Gentleman R, Chaudhuri S, Janakiraman V, Jaiswal BS, Parikh C, Yuan W, Zhang Z, Koeppen H, Wu TD, Stern HM, Yauch RL, Huffman KE, Paskulin DD, Illei PB, Varella-Garcia M, Gazdar AF, de Sauvage FJ, Bourgon R, Minna JD, Brock MV, Seshagiri S

(2012) Comprehensive genomic analysis identifies SOX2 as a frequently amplified gene in small-cell lung cancer. Nat Genet 44:1111–1116

- 61. Peifer M, Fernandez-Cuesta L, Sos ML, George J, Seidel D, Kasper LH, Plenker D, Leenders F, Sun R, Zander T, Menon R, Koker M, Dahmen I, Muller C, Di Cerbo V, Schildhaus HU, Altmuller J, Baessmann I, Becker C, de Wilde B, Vandesompele J, Bohm D, Ansen S, Gabler F, Wilkening I, Heynck S, Heuckmann JM, Lu X, Carter SL, Cibulskis K, Banerji S, Getz G, Park KS, Rauh D, Grutter C, Fischer M, Pasqualucci L, Wright G, Wainer Z, Russell P, Petersen I, Chen Y, Stoelben E, Ludwig C, Schnabel P, Hoffmann H, Muley T, Brockmann M, Engel-Riedel W, Muscarella LA, Fazio VM, Groen H, Timens W, Sietsma H, Thunnissen E, Smit E, Heideman DA, Snijders PJ, Cappuzzo F, Ligorio C, Damiani S, Field J, Solberg S, Brustugun OT, Lund-Iversen M, Sanger J, Clement JH, Soltermann A, Moch H, Weder W, Solomon B, Soria JC, Validire P, Besse B, Brambilla E, Brambilla C, Lantuejoul S, Lorimier P, Schneider PM, Hallek M, Pao W, Meyerson M, Sage J, Shendure J, Schneider R, Buttner R, Wolf J, Nurnberg P, Perner S, Heukamp LC, Brindle PK, Haas S, Thomas RK (2012) Integrative genome analyses identify key somatic driver mutations of small-cell lung cancer. Nat Genet 44:1104–1110
- 62. Spigel DR, Townley PM, Waterhouse DM, Fang L, Adiguzel I, Huang JE, Karlin DA, Faoro L, Scappaticci FA, Socinski MA (2011) Randomized phase II study of bevacizumab in combination with chemotherapy in previously untreated extensive-stage small-cell lung cancer: results from the SALUTE trial. J Clin Oncol 29:2215–2222
- 63. Ready NE, Pang HH, Gu L, Otterson GA, Thomas SP, Miller AA, Baggstrom M, Masters GA, Graziano SL, Crawford J, Bogart J, Vokes EE (2015) Chemotherapy with or without maintenance sunitinib for untreated extensive-stage small-cell lung cancer: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase ii study-CALGB 30504 (Alliance). J Clin Oncol 33:1660–1665